


November 17,

Dr. Wax:

Mary Iidas

M.Is+ Hello?

R.Ws Hello, is this Mrs. Iida?

M.Is:+ Yes.

R.Ws This is Professor Rosalie Wax and the Rockefeller

Foundation has given me a little money to talk to people who

were at Tule Lake, and I did talk to Mr.filzgfaiyL; had a

lovely talk with him, and he recommended that I might talk
to your husband, who is a friend of his.

M.I: Yes, he's busy working now.

R.Ws Oh, He's working..

M.I.s+ Yes, this is the end of the season, so he is quite
busy right now.

R.W.3 Oh. I wouldn't want to... should I wait.. how long
should I wait..embeetwserthris  tTHINE "o O untti~September. ..
wondd YOS uEEest before I try agaiﬁ?

M.I.:+ Let's see, he should be done this morning.. Oh, I
don't know... ah, is this the only day you have?

R.W.: Oh no, I could call any time or even wait a week or
two if he's very busy now.

NI He's a landscape gardener, and this is %M.

AT e £ R s

2. close to the end of the season, and he's having to do
all kinds of..

R.W.1 Should I maybe wait a week...

M.I. Yes, maybe that might be, or he's always home on rainy

5

days; can't do much outdoors.

R.We Oh, I see a rainy dayi;terrible rainy day would be a
good day to catch him.

M.I.:+ Yes, it would be, only tomorrow he said he had to take

his truck in, so even if it rained tomorrow he may..
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R.W. Tomorrow wouldn't be..

M.I.: Otherwise, he should be home or we're home just about
every evening.

R.W.1 Yes.. I could call in the evening. What would be a
convenient time?

M.I.: Oh, any evening, any time..

R.W. 1Is 7 too early?

M.I.:+ Ah, 7...I work too and I don't get home as early either,
and then... maybe 7:30 would be better.

ReW.% .73830.%

M.I. Yes.

R.W.s Okay, I'll try. Were you in Tule Lake yourself?

M.I. Yes, I was there too, yes.

ReWes Well, maybe you would be..would you have time to talk
to me since I've got you..

M.I.: Well, if it won't take too much..

R.W.1 Well, this takes about a half an hour, and so I could
call another time if you are occupied now.

M.I.: One of our friends passed away and we have funeral home
to go to..

Ry ou have-a~funeral=to-go to. .

Modatz=¥es .,

R.W.1 Well, why don't I then just.. I think it would be good
manners of me to put it off..

M.I.:+ Now, if you get my husband in the evening, I'm available

nighf%ime too.
A -

R.W.1 You prefer the nighttime, rather than the weekend?
N

M.I.: Yes, because we have everything left for the weekend..
Well, I do emsled=d0.p . (¢

R.W.: ..the evenings.

M.I. Yes.

R«Wet 7130 or after.

M.I. Yes, anytime from tomorrow night on.

R.W.: Anytime from tomorrow - not tomorrow night.

M.I.: No, tomorrow night ismdaydime.. my husband.. we mlght
have to go to car dealer, but after tomorrow night is alsaght.

R.W.1+ Okay. Well, that will give me something to look forward

to and I'll call any night after tomorrow. You know my own




schedule is crazy too, so if there is a good T.V. program,

I'11l be tempted. (Laughs)

M.I. Oh, you're like my husband since we got this cable T.V.
in. He's watching I don't know.. I haven't got the time to
watch, so I just don't watch, but he watches (laughs) .

He tells me, "Why don't you watch, I got one for you too.

We have.. he watches one thing and he fought I might like
something else, so I have my other set, but I have never watched
cable T.V. or anything.

R.W.s (laughs) Neither have I. But anyway, I'm glad you're
both happy and.. You see, I lived in Tule Lake for a year and a
half myself.

M.I.: Oh, yes..

R.W.: I was.. I don't know you may.. of course you may be

very young. 1 was Rosalie Hankeythen and I was working

for the University of California Evacuation Resettlement
Study.

M.I.: Oh, I see.

R.W.: So, I really know what it was like..of course, nobody
could know except the Japanese who went through it, you know.
M.I.: Well, I was not doing anything. I don't know too, too
much, but I just lived there like any other.. We moved there
from Arkansas campe..

R.W.: Oh, Rowher.

M.I.: Rowher, that's where we went from and my son was born
in Tule Lake..

R.We: Yes.. so then..

M.I.: And from there we went to Japan..

R.W.s+ Oh, you went to Japan, well then I really would want
to talk to you because, well, I don't want to keep you on
the phone tooc long now, but I just.. most people found that
that business of going to Japan very, very unhappy business.
M.I.: Oh, it was.

R.W.3s Yeah.




page 4

# 71

M.I.: I had never been there; I was born and raised here.
R.W.: Yeah.

M.I.s My husband was born here, but raised there..

R.W.s Yes.

M.I.: His father had passed away and everything else, so he
had quite a bit of land and all that that he had to look after.
That was why we had gone back. But, it was jist a terrifying
experience; very bad.

R.W.3: WELL,how should I say it. I know Aj‘.t was bad, but I writd
—wannxo._xee_p,awhismio&}pzseeordrzmdi-w;@i:tﬁk to you

and how should I say - things are not so bad now. «{IEUERs) .
M.I.: No, for us we have been fortunate that I have a large
family back in this country..

ReWes Yeah.

M.I.: And I was the only one that had gone.. my husband

! v Lo 05
had nobody here, but since I came back inf.am€ then my parents

were still here in St. Louis..

R.Wes Yes..

M.I.t+ So, I came here to look after them, and so it wasn't
too bad.. I guess we worked hard; we had to.. those years we
had spent in Japan was a lost time.

R.W.: Yes.

M.I.s So, I guess we were very fortunate. Our son did very
well in school.

R.W.: Yes, well that must be a great pleasure.

M.I.t Yes, so he put himself through university all on his
own; we had never helped him one cent.

R.W.3 What university did he go through?

M.I.: He went to Washington U on..

R.W.t Yes, I'm a professor there.

M.I.: And then he went to University of Pittsburgh on Mellon

grant (92)

R.W.s Oh, great.
M.I.: And then he went to University of Massachusetts;
there he had teaching grants, and I don't know what else,

but he earned himself two master degrees and bachelor degree.

He's a nuclear physist now.
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R.W.: Oh my goodness, that's really great.

M.I.s+ So, he did very well; he studying yet for another

degree (laughs). He'll never quit.

R.W.: No, I know how it is with my husband; he mever wants

to stop working.

M.I.: No, it's jist like my son; he enjoys life..

R.W.: Yeah, and it is a wonderful thing to enjoy your work that
way s

M.I.:+ Yes, he enjoys and it gives us..Oh, we have been more
than fortunate in the way that he has grown up, you know. He
never gave us any trouble, never.. all through that '60'S..
there was so much trouble.

R.W.: Yeah.

M.I.: Or the early 70's when he was in Pittsburgh.. the
blocks of houses burning.. oh he used to come and say,

"mom, I could see fire, it was burning everything." This

was from his dormitory window he used to tell us, tut he never
got involved in anything. Oh we.. all that narcotics and all
that.. he is just deathly against all that.. oh we were just
fortunate.

R.W.: Yes, that was very..When I was in Kansas at the univer-
sity there, they burned the students'.. they tried to burn
down the student union.. some of these nutty students. But

it was wonderful how the other students got together and
helped the firemen and they put it out.

M.I. Yes, you hear of so many things and then when you

have a child, gee, I used to be..oh, I don;t know, deep

inside of me, I was frightened, although I felt that boy

ought to have a little more sense and he did (laughs).




R.W.t Oh that must be great satisfaction and pleasure..

M.I.: It is. Please fedl free to call anytime during week

nights; that's fine.

R.W.31 That's very kind of you and I'll do that.
M.I.s  AlY right,

R.W.: Thank you so much.

M.I.: You're welcome. Good-bye.

R.Ws Good-bye.

END OF INTERVIEW # 122




January, 1982 Mary Iida

Mrs. Iida was born in Stockton, California in 1919. She is the wife
of Ralph Iida, who, in 1981, was also one of my respondents.

Do you remember a little about your life before the evacuation?

Oh, I was born and raised in Stockton, California I went to school there
and then prior to the evacuation I was working.

At what were you working?
I was working at a theatre, selling tickets. Box office.
And how did you parents earn their living?

Oh, my father used to be - well, my mother just...there were so many of
us, she never did work to earn anything. She was just a plain housewife.

How many brothers and sisters did you have?

Eight. And I'm the oldest. Back in those days, when nothing was automatic
or electric, we used to have to do everything by hand. So I would always
be the one to help. My parents were from the old country where, being

the oldest, I had to set the example of the youngers. So I always had

to be good, do well in school and everything else.

And because of the language difficulty, we went to the American school

in the daytime and right after that, we had to go to private Japanese
school. Right after American school we had to hurry home - it was two miles
from where I lived - and then, right away, turn around and go to the
Japanese school. It started about 5:00...So when we got home it was

about 6:00, or if we had to clean the blackboard it was after 6:30.

That's a hard schedule.

And then they gave us lots of homework.
From both schools?

From both schools.

If you can remember, did you have any hopes for the future, what you wanted
to be?

Back in those days, my father was the type who didn't believe in women
working. So my mother never did work. My father was more like a, he
worked on a big farm, 2,000 acres. They raised mostly potatoes and all
that, and he'd be a salaried man there. And he was able to come home
only on weekends of course.

And then because of the private school I went to, I do read, write, everything
in Japanese. I have been able to retain what I had learned. Some people

have forgotten. My sisters, all of them went, but some have completely
forgotten,
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RW: But, you can still read and write Japanese?

MI: Read, write, speak. But you know, because of the different dialects,
when I went to Japan, they knew right away I was not one of them. (laughs)

You had an American accent?

That's what they told me. It was a mixture of all kinds of dialects.
You can't win.

No (laughs)

Can you tell me how you felt when you heard the government saying that
the Japanese American people had to leave their homes and go to Assembly
Centers?

I am a Nisei and when I first heard that, it didn't, (pause) I don't
know exactly what to think or, ,it just didn't..Gee..to leave house and
then to be herded in kind of a camp like. I said, 'It doesn't seem
possible.' But if the government had to do that, they did. Well, at
the time, it didn't bother me so much. But when it started to..that was
a lot of work. We took a big loss. And then you had to find storage
for some of the things you wanted to keep. I mean it was..that was a
lot worse than when the news first came out. When we actually had to
pack and then leave, and people trying to sell things and then...like
the refrigerator was $2.00 - and stuff like..that..you start to realize.

It seemsed to unreal. That was about all, I thought.

Well, some people have told me that when heard it and they couldn't
believe it.

I didn't believe it, and I said 'Well'. But then I knew when the war
first broke out too. Gee, I didn't believe it, but then it was true,

I said 'Well.' 1In the meantime we did hear a lot of rumors about the
alien parents being put in one place and then we would be just like any
other citizens and then not be interned. And then they said we would
be taken all together and sent away to someplace. Well, all kinds of
rumors fly around. But when it actually came time to evacuate, it was
the families stayed together, which in most cases was for the best I
guess, you know. It was hard to believe.

Mary Iida and her family were sent to the Stockton Assembly Center. They
had a particularly difficult time because "there wre five girls and three
boys", the "rooms" had no ceilings and no walls. Only divders. "If you climbed
on something, you could look over the divider. I mean it wasn't too pleasant."
IN the Stockton cente Mary Iida taught Sunday school and ''they gave me a
job like block manager. Why, I don't know."

The family was then sent to the Rohwer Assembly Center.
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'In Rohwer, of course, everything was a lot more, I won't say permanent,
but then it was not on a short term, temporary basis. The houses had double
walls and the floors were elevated, so weeds didn't come through. We had
steps and we had a big-wood-burning, coal-burning stove right in the middle
of the room to keep us warm.

I was happy to see the elementary school and the high school come up,
so that the youngsters were able to go to school. Most of the teachers
were recruited among us evacuees. They may not have had a teaching degree,
but they were all college graduates, and they taught...but I still worked in
the block manager's office.

While she was in Rohwer, Mary Iida was sometimes allowed to go to a
town nearby the camp for shopping..."This was also with Army soldiers and with
guns escorting, you know." She and the Japanese Americans with her decided
to go to a movie. But the woman at the ticket box would not let them in,
because all seats in the white section were taken. '"In the meantime a bunch
of colored people came and they went in. So we went back again and tried our
luck.!

And we were told the same thing. So finally one of the (Japanese
American) men asked why we were not allowed to go in. Was it because we were
Orientals? And the girl in the ticket box said: "No." She said in a human
race you are either black or white. And then she looked at us and she said,
"You people are not black." We said, "No." "But then you have to be white,
and we have no open seats for the white now."

Mrs. Iida told me that the same thing happened when she and the  other
evacuees tried "to go to the bathroom" or tried to check out groceries
at Krogers. That is, they were obliged to use the white rest room and stand
in the white line, because they were not black and consequently, they must be
white.

You went into the black side? ,

The short line was for colored people and the longer line was for white
people. The white people line was long. They're buying everything. But we
had to go there or we couldn't buy. And then if you ask them why, they

say, you're either black or white. And then she said surely you're not
black, we said 'No." Then it's only white.

I was going to ask in the relocation centers, whether you remember this military
registration, "yes-yes, no-no" business?
Oh, vaguely. By that time I was married.

Oh, you married Mr. Iida in Rowher?
Rowher, that's right. So my husband was going back to...he was a "No-No" so I
thought, "what could I do?" So I just went along.

O
I don't think I ever said "no-No'", I don't know.

And your husband said "no-No' and then did you go with him to Tule Lake and
your family stayed in Rohwer?
Yes. That's why me and my husband went to Tule Lake. That's how I got there.




January, 1982 - Mary Iida —4—

RW:
MI:

I see. Didn't you miss you family or how did you feel at that time?

You know, actually, I didn't think that, well, I don't know, I didn't think

it would be a permanent thing. It was what I thought at the time. Maybe I didn't
give it too much of a thought. I'm no sure what I thought.

Thinking back, now you are in Tule Lake, is there anything that especially comes

to your mind that happened there?

Well, in Tule Lake I was was very inactive. I didn't do anything. I was just a
plain housewife. Because I had my son, and our son was born there, and so the
sewing maching came around once in...whatever, and when the sewing maching came, boy,
you were busy, sewing in between your cutting up and everything. I never got

bored. I din't have time to be bored. But I didn't do anything for the public

or anything.

Did you have any friends?
Oh, when I got there, I didn't, no, I didn't have any friends. But I made friends.

And the children weren't that many. And then my son was just an infant and then
there were so many older, like my parents' age, you know, who had nothing to do,

so then they would look after my son while I went to laundry. Well, we had to

use those scrub boards and do our laundry. So while we did that; there was always
someone to look after the child. And I don't know. Some of the friends I made there
are still very good friends of ours. It became a permanent friendship.

How did it happen then that you went to Japan, you and your husband?
Well, my husband said he was going so then his father had passed away.

His father in Japan?

In Japan. His father was in Japan, but just before the outbreak of the war he
had passed away. It was before the war. And then my husband was thinking of
going back to Japan because he's the oldest in his family. But then before he
ever got going, the war broke out and then that was it, he couldn't go any more.

Did he have brothers and sisters in Japan?

He had one sister and a brother. So then my husband's parents' father had léft
him quite a bit. And then he had to look after his brother and sister, so we
decided we'd go.

How long were you in Japan?
Seven years.

And how did it impress you as a Nisei from America?
It was...I had a very bad impression.

Can you tell me about it?

See, I went back when...to begin with there was no food. Now that always makes
everybody more like, I mean, what I had learned and what I had heard about Japan
and its people and all that was everything was very good. But once I got myself
over there, everything was negative to what I had been thinking. It was very
depressing.

It must have been very hard...

But of course I was there and I had to make the best of, you know, with what I had,
but I was fortunate that I did have all my family here (in United States) and

then I had a brother in occupational force in Tokyo.
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RW:
MI:

You were saying that people had a grudge.

You see, that means another mouth to be fed. Of course that was in the beginning.
Later I made many friends with the native Japanese people. Well, I didn't

know, what to make of my own self too.

It must have been a very difficult adjustment.

Because I didn't know their customs and everything. I made many mistakes. Every-
thing I did was backwards or wrong or I had...I put my shoes on where I wasn't
suppose to and oh, I've made my shares of errors.

Did...was there anything that helped you?
Well, of course I had the child and regardless, I had to feed him, grow up in
good health... Now that was the biggest thing on my mind while I lived there.

Did he make out all right?
He turned out perfect.

Wonderful.

He was very healthy. Aside from...when he was four years old he wanted to go

to school so badly, we registered him in a church nursery school. He was four
years old. He was happy. But maybe a month after he had started this little
nursery school, he camehome and was sick with measles. And then he got over
that and went back to school for a few days. Them he came down with chicken pox.

Oh my goodness.
And then he went back for...finally got back and then he came down with mumps.
And that did it. He wasn't going to go back no more. (laughs)

(laughs) What's he doing now?
He's a nuclear-physicist.

Oh boy. I guess he was smart.
And then when it was time for him to go to school, when he was six years old,
he wasn't going to go.

Yeah, with his experience. Was that in Japan?

Yes, this was in Japan. He went to school for two years in Japan. Regular
Japanese public school. And so I had to tell him, I said well, he had the measles,
the chicken pox, and mumps, he can't have too many more. So I promised him,

I said if you ever get sick again, I'll take you out of school and never go again,
but try once more. Because he always wanted us to read so much to him and after

a while when it gets repetitious, you try to maybe skip a page or skip a line,

no, he knew what we had skipped.

He was very bright.

So then at six years old, I said if you read yourself, you won't have to ask

me, you won't have to wait until the dishes are done, until the meal was over

with, you could read anytime you feel like. Oh that he liked. So I told him to

go to school. Mommy can't teach you, but the teachers will. So then he decided,
Mommy, you always promise something and you keep it. Now he remembers that I never
broke a promise to him. So he says, 'Mommy, you promised me you would take me
out.' So he was going, so he went and he hasn't stopped yet.
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He went to school and he liked it. He would come running home, then eat,
go running back, you know for the two years he was there, he was on the honors
role.

That's wonderful. Can I ask how it was then that you came back to the
United States?
When we first came back?

How it was that you decided to come back?

Well, the boy had to go to school. See, he was an American citizen and then
I thought,well gee...had I stayed there forever, I didn't know enough...

I guess I would get by, but I thought, to me, my family was here (in

United States) and this is my...I was born and raised here. There was
always this desire that I would like to come back. So then the chance came,
so my son and I, we just decided to come.

And how did you come to St. Louis then?

You see, after Rowher, my parents decided that they weren't going back to
California. And so they started moving out with many other families.

When they came up to St. Louis, I guess quite a few families decided to
stay here. That's why they bought a house, they did everything...Then when
I was coming back to this country, my mother had wrote me that she was ill.
So, then my sisters all thought if I came back, I could look after my mother.
So that was the reason Icame to St. Louis. People asked me, 'Boy, you

were a native Californian, why did you come all the way out here?' Well,
that was the reason, and I had my mother until she passed on. She was ill
for six and a half years and she passed on.

My goodness...When I talked to your husband, I think he said, didn't he
stay in Japan longer?
He stayed, yes.

How many years was he there before he came here?
Seven more.

Seven more years. Why was that? Was it hard to get his citizenship

back or

Yes, that was part of the reason. See, mine was...I just packed along so
it wasn't...mine was nothing I guess.

But then he had to wait and get his citizenship back.
For the clearance, yes.

That must have been hard to be separated.

You see, that's why I came to live with my parents. And then my mother was
ill, and then I still had a brother that was still going to school. My
youngest brother was still going to school.

Your son is a nuclear-physicist?
He's a Washington University graduate too.
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MI: My son went there and then to Pittsburgh, and then to Massachusetts. Now
he's getting this video education or whatever from Illinois IIT, that's
where he's studying for another Masters.

Gee, I'm very happy to hear that and...
Professionally, he is a nuclear-physicist.

And for yourself here, what kind of work are you doing now?
I do heavy accounting.

You do what kind of account?
Heavy, detailed. Banking, interest, all that.

Good for you.

Lots of other people's money. Millions of other people's money. But

when I first came back here (from Japan)...what hit me the most how abundant
everything was. My son has never forgotten that either.

Compared to what Japan was like.

Of course, now Japan has everything in abundance right now. But when T

came back in 1953 they were just getting back on their feet. So when

we came back here and all these supermarkets were stocked so much, it was

a good feeling to know that now you could buy whatever you felt like. Not

have to take what they gave out. And then pay for it. Things at the

beginning it was rationed, and sometimes the food, you would just didn't like or
didn't know what to do with it, so you didn't want, but then if it's rationed
you just had to take your share.

Well, I'm sure glad you came back.
Oh, I am too. One of these days' we might, my husband like to go back.
In a few years, I'll retire and then we will have all the time.

That will be nice. Well, I want to thank you very much. You spoke very
honestly and clearly and to the point. You sound like you have the
intellect of a mother who has a son who is a nuclear-physicist.

Well, today I never forgot that I am a mother. Like one thing at work,
I tell people, I said, I would never do anything that I can't do in front
of my sone. That I'm pretty firm.




MARY IIDA

Mrs. Iida was eerm in Steekten, Califsrnia in 1919, Skhe is the wife

Ralph Tida, whe, in 1981, was alse ene of my ressondents,

Wax: De ysu remember a little akeut yeur life befere the evacuatien?

Iida: Oh, I was pern and raised in Steekten, Califernia, I went te
scheel there and then srier te the evacuatien I was werking.

R. Wax: At what were yeu rweking?
MA Tida: I was werking at a theatre, selling tiekets., Bex eoffice.

R. Wax: And hew did yeur paremts earm kwmxkx their liviwg?
M: IIda: Ch, my father used te ke -~ well, my mether just. . .There were se

many of us, she never did werk te earm anythimg., She was just a
plain heusewife,

R. Wax: Hew many brethers and sisters did yeu have?
Eight. And I'm the =Xotwmky eldest. Baek in these days, when

rothing was autematie or =Imgxkx electris, we used te nave te de
everything by nand, Do I would always be the ene te nelp. My

parents were frem the eld ceuntry where,being the eldest, I had te
set the example ef the yeumgers, DBe I always had te be geed, do well/

in scheel and everything else,
Fand beeause of the language diffieulty, we went te the American
scheel in the daytire and right after that, we had te ge te
private Japanese schoel, Rizht after Ameriean scheel we had te
hurry heme - it was twe miles frem where I lived - and then,
right away, tura arcund and ze te the Japanese scheecl, It started
abeut 5:00, . o Se when we get heme it was about BZOUY 4:00, er
if wxe we had te elean the blackbeard it was after 6:30.

R. Wax; That's a hard xzmmkmyx schedule,
M, Tida ; And them they gave us lets eof homewerk




Mary Tida

RW: From both schools?
MI: From both schools.

RW: If you can remember, did you have any hopes for the future, what you wanted to be?

MI: Back in those days, my father was the type who didn't believe in women working. So my
mother never did work. My father was more like a, he worked on a big farm, 2,000 acres.
They raised mostly potatoes and all that,and he'd be a salaried man there. And he was
able to come home only on weekends of course. Seeue=ltvedin ~the—eiby~—My—father—at so
didn't_like—the-eouwntry. schools.

RW: _You lived in the city-and your father would go -out-to work. I haven't talked-to anyone
- vho_had_that.kind-of ~ewperience-before.
MI:| And then because of the private school I went to, I do read, write, everything in
| Japanese. I have been able to retain what I had learned. Some people have forgotten.
" My sisters, all of them went, but some have completely forgotten.
RW: But, you can still read and write Japanese(,2 that*e=Very—good .
_MI: Read, write, speak.

& RWs——I-onty-learned-a-very-littte—in-the—centers, but you-know-I.was. really working Foe hard
by | to—learn—very-much—JIapanesey—but _L.got=sos—I-eould-kind of wrderstand what™ people-said.
W MT:| But you know, because of the different dialects, when I went to Japan, they knew right
/ avay I was not one of them. (laughs)

2
\RW: (laugh®) You had an American accent. 4
MI: That's what they told me. It was a mizture of all kinds of dialects.

RW: ~¥Yedh, T ean~se¢ that. You can't win.
MI: No (laughs)

R. Wax:
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RW: But then i:;;;gb9d~$o have-a-regular..gob, L Linde.. Anyway;=T-shoutd-get-baek-to the
interview na,. let.me. 8eeemmd.d like—to-ask-now about—some of~the~first stages-of-the
dvacuatton. Can you tell me how you felt when you heard the govermment saying that the
Japanese American people had to leave their homes and go to Assembly Centers?

YFr— We-wene—to-leave. for.the “Aeeerbly~Centers;~welis . .

Ris~How.- did=you-feel whenyou-heard that?«—You were a Nisei.

MI: Yzs, I am a Nisei and when I first heard that, it didn't, (pause) I don't know exactly
wvhat to think or. .it just didn't. .Gee. . .to leave house and then to be herded in kind
of a eamp like. I said, 'It doesn't seem possible.' But if the govermment had to do
that, they did. Well, at the time, it didn't bother me so much. But when the actual
registration started to take place and we had to be registered and everything else and
then we had to get rid of our belonginge - that's when it started to. . that was a lot of
work. We took a big loss. - And then you had to find storage for some of the things you
wanted to keep. I mean it was. .that was a dlot worse than when the news first came out.

AL thattime. F-was—ebibltving—at-home,.not. marrted-or-anythinge..l-don*t know how thy
panents. actuallyetook=—-to-mev-wat-the time.rl.saids..Well, ' and-that-was about™it.~ But
égka~§hea{3“¢when we actually had to pack and then leave, and people trying to sell things
and then. . .like the refrigerator was $2.00 - and stuff like. .that. .you start to
realize.

i Oh DOy that-iust.have.been a-6hock .
s w8 DUt untilthen it didn't. .it seemed so unreal. That was about all, I thought.

Well, some people have told me that when heard it and they couldn't believe it.

I didn't believe it, and I said 'Well'. But then I knew when the war first broke out
too. Gee, I didn't believe it, but then it was true, I said 'Well.' In the meantime we
did hear a lot of rumors about the alien parents being put in ome place and then we would
be just like any other citizens and then not be interned. And then they said we would be
taken all together and sent away to someplace. Well, all kinds of rumors fly around.

But when it actually came time to evacuate, it was the families stayed together, which in
most cases was for the best I guess, you know. e

\
<j§#::w0kcyes, I think so.

It was hard to believe.

o —

RW: Which Assembly Center were you sent to then?

MI: Stockton. It was actually a eounty fairgrounds, Stockton County Fairgrounds.

RW: Do you remember anything that happened there thati'w. ™

MI: Well, after we got settled there, I still taught Sunday Schpol. They gave me, I still
had a job like block manager - that's the kind of job they |gave me, |why I don't know, but
I was assigned to that kind of job all -the way.

Is there anything that happened in the Assembly Center that makes you feel good when you
think about it today? |

No. There is nothing. I 'used to feel sorry for these single young men, that were put
into the actual horse stables.

Yeah, I've talked to some of them - with grass growing up under their feet.
The houses that we had did have a floor, but the weeds came through.

Yeah, that's what I heard.

So the houses were, had that tar paper, but the people poked holes and so there were
f&mtlzes with girls like my family,  there were five girls and tHree boys. My parents
weren't too happy. And then, we didn't have a ceiling either.| It was just a room
divider in this army barrack type< So then there were five, I/think five or six families
got into ome. .it was partioned off, but then if you bought sdmething and then elimbed
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Mary
xMxsa/ Tida smxxeiioex and her family were seant te the Steekten Assembly

Center. They had a partieularly diffieult time beseause "there were five girls
and three boys", the xxm "recms" had nc ceilings and wErmoxdxmichisamerx
xxmnnnhmimh;niin-nnnxmnlhmhmmg.&ﬁ:k ne walls, Only dividers. "If yeu e¢limbed
en semething, yeu eculd leek ever the divider, I mean it wasmn't tee pleasant,"
fhnniiiaxﬁxmklgx!x:xnxlxutlxixlxlxhnnxnianilluhinnnﬂnknilitnnﬁalhan,
In the Steekten center Mizm xMrxyxxFidx Mary Iida taught sk Sunday seheeol and
ixgxuxxkmix "they save me a jok like bleck manager, NIEE Way, I den't knew,"
The family was themn sent te the Rohwer Assembly Centear,

41y Rekwer, eof ceurse, everything was a let mere, I wen't say permanent,

42
but them it was net en a sher, term, temperary basis. The heuses had

deuble walls and the fleers were elevated, se weeds didn't ecome threugh,
We had steps and we had a big, wecd-burming, eeal-burning steve risht in
the middle ¢f the reem te keeg us warwm,

I was happy te see the elementary scheel and the Righ seneel eome up, se
that the yeungsters were able teo ge te sehoel, Mest of the teachers were
recruited ameng us evacuees. They may mnet nave had a teaching degree, but
they were all eellese graduates, and they taught. . . But I still werked
in the bleck manager's effice, i

Lr et 17mla
While she was in Rehwer, ¥Myxmxx Mary Iida was K : : =k allewed te ge
te a tewn mearby the eamp fer srkepping, . }\This was alse with Army seldiers
- o 3 -
and with guns eseerting, yeu knew." & he and the XXKEXEX Japanese Americans
with her decided te ge te 2 wmx= mevie, But the ¥m weman fax afkkkzx at the
tieket bex weuld net let them in, beeause all seats in the LIVET 13 06T T4 E89073.7
! : RULI ey n , : Sl | B
KAKENXAAAXXN Ky Pwhite seeticn were taken. In the meantime a Mwwixx buneh e
celored peeple came and they went in. Se we went back zrain and tried eur
luek,*
éAni we were teld the same thing., Se finally ene ef the (Japanese
Ameriecan ) men asked why we were net allewed te ge in, Was it
beecause we were Orientals? And the girl in the tieket bex said:

"Ne." She sazid in human race you are either blaek er whibke, And
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then she leeked at us and she said, "You perple are nct hadek black,"

We said, "Ne,"

"But thewffd you have te be white, and we have me epen

seats fer the White new."

Mrs., Iida teld me that the same thing hnaopened when she and the ether
evacuees tried "te ge te the bathreem"™ er trie d te eheek eut x® zreeeries
at Kregers., T,at is, the were ebliged te use the White rest reem and

stand in the White line, beecause they were net Blask and ecnsequently, they

must be White,
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RW: You went into the black side? }
MI: So- then we weren't given anything. ghey Just shooed us out without saying anything, just
like chaging some kids out, you know), we just came out-- we/were too timid t4 say
anything. ‘ /’ ] £
Do you think they were telling you'the truth or were they really just lying?
No, no, later on it was /like that. So we want to go to /bathroom, so they said| hotel eo
and [e0, but there too the door said "black"/and "white! and you had to go in the white
side. And then before going home we decided to go shopping and at the department store
we lcouldn't tell too much, but we went td Kroger and we bought a little sugar,| and I
don't know what else we bought, but it wasn't muchy but we went into Kroger and then we
knew it was time for us to leave. See/we had a set time, so we got into this \line to
check out. fhere were only\ two linesi It was a small Kroger store. I mean that was the
first time/I ever saw Kroger. I didn't even know that was a supermarket or anything, but
anyway, At eaid Kroger. We tried t0 check out, and. then the givl said 'No,' you have to
get—iA the other line. -

RW+—Gosgh.

MIr g, The short line was for colored people and the longer line was for white people. The
white people line was long. They're buying everything. But we had to go there or we
couldn't buy. And then if you ask them why, they say, you're either black or white.
And then she said surely you're not black, we said 'No.' Then it's only white, se=you

have, to. got sme+

I was going to ask in the relocation centers, whether you remember this military
registration, "yes-yes, no-no" business?
Oh, vaguely. By that time I was married.

Oh, you married Mr. Iida in Rowher?
| Rowher, that's right. So my husband was going back to. .. he was a "No-No" so I thought,
“what could I dop'do I just went along. Thab=wis .abowbeits

Oh. :
I don't think I ever said "No-No", I don't know. _ gy
T 7:;»& AL
RW: And your husband said "No-No" and then did you Just go with himpand your family stayed in
Rowher?
MI: Yes. That's why me and my husband went to Tule Lake. That's how I got there.

RW: I see. 9&§,Eaﬂdn't you miss your family or how did you feel at that time?
You know, actually, I didn't think that, well, I don't know, I didn't think it would be a
permanent thing. It was what I thought at the time. Maybe I didn't give it too much of
a thought. I'm mot too sure what I thought. '

BW=Well,—ae-a young woman Just mapried,why -I-ean-agareeiate—that=you know.
MI: %50 I just went=td Plewlake.

RW: Thinking back, now you are in Tule Lake, is there anything that especially comes o your
mind that happened there?

MI: Well, in Tule Lake I was very inactive. I didn't do anything. I was just a plain
housewife, Because I had my son, and our son was born there, and so the sewing machine
came around .once in. .whatever, and when the sewing machine came, boy, you were busy,
sewing in between your cutting up and everything. Lrmean- I-nevemmd, I never got bored.
I didn't have time to be bored, oa, But I didn't do anything for the public or anything.

5ﬁ§_bﬂynh?”509”¥h£¢$f“§3§;dn't, no, I didn't have any f%iends' but—yau, well—theee
Jﬁguea,_yeuzgpgwta,be~f%uénds,,ygymkﬂgw! yoyp=netghbors-from.nere-and-there and‘youriaik
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Bt
MI: about“where are. you-from. « oI made friends, but qui-be—a—few-people. they-were from
Southern. -California.

RW"//,feo_peopZe that-I talked to have really ted very-solitary lives in Tule Lake...They
{ gyt hardly-talked-to-anybody.~This is_sometimes.married cQuples~but-in-your.case, You

déd-have~Friends—you.could. talk to.
MI: Ok,~éxsende;mycs,ﬁfmi the children weren't that manyu&nd then my son was just an infant

and then there were so many older, like my parents' age, you know, who had nothing to do,
so then they ‘would look after my son while I went to laundry. Well, we had to use &
gernh, those serub boards and do our laundry. So while we did that, there was always
someone to look after the child. And I don't know. Some of the frtends I made there are
still very good friends of ours. It became a permanent friendship.

¥es, are they-here in St. Louis?
o, in Eos Angeles.

/
But you still jeorrespond? Ihat s vﬁry nice.
” Last time we isited them. /

/ —
That's unusual, you/ know. Many péople I ask if yg} kngz/;;?body else who-was in Tule
Lake and they say !No". I think/it's healthy to kept! . .
Well, whén we went to Japan, the people that went/ to Japan, now there\weren't too many
that I knew. You know, the friends that I had mgde in Tule Lake, they stayed behind or I
don't know where they went, but they weren't there./ Only a féw fantlzes that I knew
went on to Japan. So I don''t know, it wasn't that /solitary, I guess. |

\
I understand. You did have friends at Tule Lake. | These old people uvuld watch the baby.
As [far as amusement went, well that we didn't jhave to¢ much there. In Rowher we did have
a eentral place where everybody got together jand had 1/ kinde of ententainment among
ourselves, you know. /

Yes, I know some of it was very nice, but Tule éake was always having kind of trouble.
So we just stayed sort of close to home. /

/

RW: | Wae there any person in Tule Lake whom you vqry much.tegpected; to whom you felt you
édould go to for advice?

M1:/ Gee, some of the older people have passed awqy now. No, I~dom't Kiow. Gee, I can't
think of. . At the time .maybe I did but now. . .

RW: I didn't want the name, I just wondered if you have that kind of nice relationship.
MI: I would get along with anybody, so I never was lacking for friends.

RW: You sound like d*very out-going person.
MIs——Fverybody-helped me, everybody-wanted to-do this or-that; and _then. . .

RW: How did it happened then that you went to Japan, you and your husband?
MI: Well, my husband said he was going so then his father had passed away.

RW: His father in Japan?

-} In Japan. His father was in Japan, but just before the outbreak of the war he had
passed away. It was before the war. And then my husband was thinking of going back to
Japan because he's the oldest in his family, But then before he ever got going, the war
broke out and then that was it, he couldn't go any more.

Did he have brothers and sisters in Japan:
He had one sister and a brother. So then my husband's parents' father had left him quite
v a bit. And then he had to look after his brother and sister, so we decided we'd go.
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RWz-= Well, that makes very good semse« After.all he did have’ that obligation towhis. family.
MI: Now they..are both gone;\but then at .the tims he 'did-haves . 0802 oy

RW: Laé‘u-uee,{ﬁow long were you in Japan?
MI: Seven years.

And how did it impress you as a Nisei from America?
It was. I had a very bad impression.

& you lan) tell me about it?

See, I went back when. .to begin with there was no food. Now that always makes everybody
more like, I mean, what I had learmed and what I had heard about Japan and its people and
all that was everything was very good. But once I got myself over there, everything was

negative to what I had been thinking. It was very depressing.

It must have been very hard. . .

But of course I was there and I had to make the best of, you know, with what I had, but I
was fbrtunate that I did have all my family here [in United Stated] and then I had a
brother in the occupational force in ToKyo.

RWigsie One®of-your. brothers~wgs in the army?..So-you dig have that-Kind qﬁ contactv—7 have bgen
told panese, ig [from Japan, that often people who-went to América~and come baeK to
Jgpéﬁéa;zg?ﬁke.dapgnese.eay -they-are.veally Ameriéan,..they.don't really accept-them.

s myeegge, I had nfever been to Japan and twen I had gone. there after the war was
lost and food wasn't there and then going to Japan from the United States people, some
[ people really had a grudge.

SIDE, 3

RWD I got it going-now, would yow go back to the.lasb«sentence, so'Il don!t miss-it.
ML Now r;ygo/ﬁm. v

RW: You were saying that people had a grudge, they-felb~there=tis~so-little. and. you had. come

there.

MI: You see, that means another mouth to be feed. Of course that was in the beginning, lZater
| endibowae, I hetl made many friends with the native Japanese people. Well, I didn't
{know, what to make of my own self too.

RW: It must have been a very dpfftcult adjustment, wow-thatEdethink-ofwit-and T~eongratutate

YoUs.On~deTTigh=tt
MI: ,Because I didn't know their customs and everything. I made many mistakes. Everything I

did was backwards or wrong or I had. . .I put my shoes on where I wasn't suppose to and
oh, I've made my shares of errors. 57 .

{ « W A Gt T ' e '«nl’d A oA A NA o
Did. rwelt~ havtng your hdsbandcand child.-there, maybe I _shauld ask this, what was® the
help- to-you-in-this. kind of thing?
Well, of course I had the child and regardless of whut I had to feed him, grow up in
lgood health, Mow that was the biggest thing on my mind while I lived there.

: (Did he make out all right?
He turned out perfect.

Wonderful .

He was very healthy. Aside from. .when he was four years old he wanted to go to school

so badly, we registered him in a church nursery school. He was four years old, ¥he was
i happye %&t maybe a month after he had started this little nursery school, he came home

and s sick with measles. And then he got over that and went back to school for a few

days Fhen he came down with chicken pox.
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N

\

Mary Iida

RW:
MI:
\\

RW:

MI:

Oh my goodness. 4
And then he went back for. .finally got back and then he came dowm with mumps. And that
did it. He wasn't going to go back no more. (laughs)

(laughs) What's he doing now?
He's a nuclear-physicist.

Oh boy. I guess he was smart. )
And then when it was time for him to go to school, when he was six years old, he wasn't
going to go.

Yeah, with his experience. Was that ewem in Japan-yet?

Yes, this was in Japan. He went to school for two years in Japan. Regular Japanese
public school. And so I had to tell him, I said well, he had the measles, the chicken
pox, and mumps, he can't have too many more. So I promised him, I said if you ever get
sick, again, I'll take you out of school and never go again, but try once more. Because
he always wanted us to read so much to him and after a while when it gets repetitious,
you try to maybe skip a page or skip a line, no, he knew what we had skipped.

He was very bright evidentedily.

So then at six years old, I said if you read yourself, you won't have to ask me, you
won't have to wait until the dishes are done, until the meal was over with, you could
read anytime you feel like. Oh that he liked. So I told him to go to school. Mommy
ean't teach you, but the teachers will. So then he decided, Mommy, you always promise
something and you keep it. Now he remembers that I never broke a promise to him. So he
says, 'Mommy, you promised you would take me out.' So he was going, so he went and he
hasn't stopped yet.

Well, he reminds me a little of-mg. I. .when I was read to)as a child, I Liked it so much
thatybelieve or not, L-taught myéelf to-repd before I went to school. ‘
That's why you-Can?t even leave out~a fe® lines, you know. He'll say,/'Mom thatl!e not
ith! Then-he’told me what's.-etpposed to be there. OH, everyday, thislwould be éveryday
and & said, 'Oh my.' ok ¢ ( i

RWeHe-was very,—very-intelligent.

MI:

RW:

MI:

RW:
MI:

| He went to school and he liked it. He would come running home, then eat, go running
\ back, you know for the two years he was there, he was on. the honor role.

’a :-"/-‘,{;,r /-\" . f
That's wéee. Can I ask how it was then that you came back to the United States?
When we first came back?

How it was that you decided to come back?
Well, the boy had to go to school.

MI:

See, he was an American citizen and then I thought, well gee. .had I stayed there
forever, I didn't know enough. .I guess I would get by, but I thought, to me, my family
was here [in United States] and this is my. .I was born and raised here. There was
always this desire that I would like to come back. So then the chance came) so my son and
I,we just decided to come. z,_»,f’-

And how did you come to St. Louis then?

You see, after Rowher, my/parents decided that they weren't going back to California,land
so they started moving with many other families. het!s-sees—I wasn't here,. rI.was

. alveady in Japan about.when. \yhen they came up to St.Louis, I guess quite a few families

decided to stay here. Mewe~went-norih. to.Chicago, Michi. .Cincinnati,-there quite-a bit
in-this gprea. further north, but.my-parents.decided to-etay here. That's why they bought
a house, they did everything. .Then when I was coming back to this country, my mother
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had wrote me that she was ill. So, then my eisters all thought if I came back, I could
look after my mother. So that was the reason I came to St. Louis. People asked me,
'Boy, you were a native Californian, why did you come all the way out here?' Well, that
was the reason, and I had my mother until she passed on. She was ill for six and a half
years and she passed on.

My goodness. . .When I talked to your husband, I think he said, didn't he stay in Japan
lLonger?
He -stayed, yes.

How many years was he there before he came here?

Seven more.

9 i
Seven more years. Why was that: Was it hard to get his citizenship back orfe. . s -
Yes, that was part of the reason. See, mine was. .I just packed along so it wasn't. .
mine was nothing I guess.

But then he had to wait and get his citizenship back.
For the clearance, yes.

That must have been hard to be separated.

You see, that's why I came to live with my parents. And then my mother was ill, and then
I still had a brother that was still going to sechool. My youngest brother was still going
to school.

RW: Your son is a neclear-physicist?
MI: Now=-nij=sen. Yhe's a Washington University graduate too.

RW+E-wag teaching-there~until. L.retired and-my-husband*is-still a~professqr - there.

MI: My son went there and then to Pittsburgh, and then to Massachusefts. Now he's getting
this video education or whatever from Illinois IIT, that's where he's studying for
another Masters.

RW: Gee, I'm very happy to hear that and. . .
MI: Professionally, he is a nuclear-physicist.

RW: And for yourself here, what kind of work are you doing now?
MI: I do heavy accounting.

RW: You do what kind of account?
MI: Heavy, detailed.

RW+——Oh " d8bawiledy haavy-accotmtitg.
: Banking, interest, all that.

Good for you.

Lots of other people's money. Millions of other people's money.

But when I first came back here (from Japan). .what hit me the most how abundant
everything was. My son has never forgotten that either.

Compared to what Japan was like. .

Of course, now Japan has everything in abundance right now. But when I came back [Es
Jap@hP in 1953 they were just getiing back on their feet. So when we came back here and
all these supermarkets were stocked so much, it was a good feeling to know that now you
could buy whatever you felt like. Not have to take what they gave out. And then pay for
it. Things at the beginning it was rationed, and sometimes the food, you would just
didn't like or didn't know what to do with it, so you didn't want, but then if it's
rationed you just had to take you share.
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R, Wax: Well, I'm sure glad yeu came back.
M. Iida: xfix,xkh amxbmmxx Oh, I am tee. One of these days' we might, my husband

likes te ge baek In a few years, I'll reture and thea we will have all
the time,

R. Wax: That will be niece. Well, I want te taank yeu very mxmix muek, Yeu speke

vary henecstly and elearly and te the peint., Yeu seund like yeu
Rave the intelleet of a mether whe has a sen whe is a nuclear-physieist.

M2 Iida: Well, kgmiyxXx teday I mever ferget that I am a mether., Like ene thing

at werk, I tell necple, I said, I woeuld never de anything that I ean't
de in frent ef my sen. That I'm pretty firm.
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MERXXIXEX
Mary Iida

Mary Iida, who gxsxwk was 21 at the time of the evacuation, met and
married Raph Iidaff in the Rohwer Relocation Center. She $old me that
she could not remember whether she had said Yes or No mxxkiex at the time of
Military Registration. She accompanied her "disloyal" hudband to Tule Lake,
leaving her "loyal" fawikipxk family in Rohwer. She was not to see txmzx LQMw
Lovnnlan
vaen a-agg for many years. I asked her: "“How did it happen that you went
to Japan, you and your husband?® She replied:
His father was in Japan. But just before the outbreak of mx
bhe war he had passed away. And then my husband was thinking ot
going back to Japan because he's the oldest in his family. But

A

before he ever go goihg, the war broke out,énd then that was it.
k3

8

17

He cox%n't go anymore,

So then my hushand's parents' father had left him quite
And then he had to look after his brother and sister. So we
decided to go.

RW: How long were you in Japan?
MI: Seven years.
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RW:

MI: |

RW:
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I
} negative to what I ha ad been thinking. It was very

i

5 e
that-moKes very good-senses /Jf'teﬂ-a*f he~did hove tha L oblygamoﬁ b IE T Y .
‘ F L&;”E yar-ms ii'ﬂ#ﬁﬂl)b O""‘ o

SQ B o-ﬁé’dﬂu .

And how did it itmpress you as a Nisei from America?
\It was. I had a very bad impression.
| 57
y24 ,7,-'5&-5&@ tell me f:bout it?
h o begin with there was rw food } yo—makes everybody
MHcfj'\l—-r’iean;wzm& Jad - learned el What I had hear bout Japan and ite people and

all that was everything was very good. But once 3 thera, everything was

It must have been very hard. . .

But of course I was there and I had to make the best of, you know, with what I had, but I
wag fortunate that I did have all my family here [in United Stated] and then I had a
brother in the occupational forece in Tokyo.

082 _of-—yown-brothens—was in the armyl .So—yow-did.have—bhat—kind—ef—eentatt. I have been
told by Japanesc e from Japan, that often pemﬂ“ who went to America and come back to
Japan, ¥ the Japanese say they are really American, they don't really accept them

Well, my case, I had npever been to Japan cmi then I had gone there after the war was
lost and food wasn't there.Bnd then going to Japan from the United States people, some
people really had a grudge..»

ﬂSlDE”?)
’ 4 got it.going now, would-you-go.back tao,. lha=bettsenitence, sot-don't mics it.
Now I forgot-ihat. . .

.

RW; —You-were—eaying=thil pzople had-a-grudgey.they-fett there-was—so.-little and ~you-had  come

MI:

RW:

MI:

RW:

MI:

RW:

MI:

RW:
MI:

thoke .

You see, that means another mouth to be feed. Of course that was in the beginning, later
on iteawas, 1 had made many friends with the native Japanese people. Well, I didn't
know, what to make of my own self too.

It must have been a very difficult adjuétment;.&eé&—b#a—t——}—think —-ofttord—Teongratutate
you-on—dotng=it.
Because I didn't know their customs and everything. I made many mistakes. Everything 1

| did was backwards or wrong or I had. . I put my shoes on where I waen't suppose to and
‘ oh, I've made my shareg of errors.

Ay {‘*‘*‘\N,w AR
pid. w.hwkzg yourhmnsband-and-~child-there; mogbe-I. should—ask—thte—what was Tthe
help to you in this kind of thing?
Well, of course I had the child and regardless of what, I had to feed him, grow up in
|good health, rew That was the biggest thing on my mind while I lived there.
[ Did he make out all right?
| He turned out perfect.

Wonderful .

He was very healthy. Aside j’mm -when he was four years old he wanted to go to school
§0 badly, we registered him in a church nursery school. He was four years old, he was
happy, but maybe a month after h~ had started this little nursery school, he came home
and was siek with meas Ze aiiiiAnd mm he got over that and went back to school for a few




1hL.
And when he mawm went back he came down with mumps. And that was it.
He wasn't going to go back no mere. (B@88C (laughs)
Mrs. Iida, however, promised her son that if he became sick once more, she

CCE¥imwx would take him out of school. Accordingly, he was enrolled

in the x®x '"regular Ixawm Japanese public school,

He went to school and he liked it. He would come running home, then
eat,go running back, For the two years he was there he was on
tne honor role.

RW: How was it that ycu decided to come back?

ML: Well, the boy had ég’to go school. He was an American citizen and then I
thought, weedsgeee.. had I stayed there forever. . I guess I would get
by. But I thought, to me, my family was here (in United States) and it

is mye « oI was bern and raised here. There was always this ddsire twet
Segipe that T would like to come back. So then, the chance came, so my
son and I, we just decided to coge.

Then when I was coming back to this country,my mother wrote me that
she was ill, . .I had my mother until she passed on. She was ill for
six and a half years.

When I talked to your husband, I think he said, didn't ne stay in
Japan longer?

MI: He stayed, yes.

RW: How many years was he there before he came here?

MI: Seven mcre.

Was it hard to gmxk get his citizenship back?

Yes., that gx was part of the reason.. for the mheammamge clearance.

That must have been hard to be senarated.

Ycu see,that's why I came to k= live with my parents. My mothet

was ill, and then I xkx¥X* had a brother that was still going to

school,

N { ;
Mrs. IidaAgave mge a detailed account of the univergities hee son had
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attendedA@ﬂé—%he%—arcfessfwvaiiy, he is now a nuclear-physicist.

She herself, she said, is emplcyed doing "heavy accounting, "banking, interest,

Y-y j,‘\,.

and all that"., At the end of the interview, she),tekd=me:

When I first came back (to the United States) in I¥XZ 1953p what
the

hit me/most was how abundant everything was. . When we came back

‘ }
nere, and all those supermarkets were stocked scmuch. It was a good

Beeling to know that ncw you could buy whatever you felt like., Not
have to take what they gave out, and then pay for it. Things at
the beginning, it was rationed, and sometimes the food. . you =¥
justy wouldn't like it or you didn't know what to do wibkt it, , i
it's rationed, you just had to take your share.

And as a final word, she said:
Today I never forget that I am a mother. At work, I tell people,
"I would never do anything that I can't do in front of my son."

That I am pretty firm,




